



WISER TRANSFORM WORKING PAPER

Using environmental psychology to increase the use of climate information

Anna Steynor and Lorena Pasquini

APRIL 2020

Fund Manager for WISER:





Copyright © 2020, Weather and Climate Information Services for Africa. All rights reserved.

Authors: Anna Steynor and Lorena Pasquini

Date: April 2020

Neither the University of Cape Town, nor its affiliates, nor their third party providers guarantee the accuracy, completeness, timeliness or availability of any information provided in this report. The University of Cape Town, its affiliates or their third party providers and their directors, officers, shareholders, employees or agents are not responsible for any errors or omissions, regardless of the cause, or for the results obtained from the use of such information. THE UNIVERSITY OF CAPE TOWN, ITS AFFILIATES AND THEIR THIRD PARTY PROVIDERS DISCLAIM ANY AND ALL EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTIES, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, ANY WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR USE. In no event shall the University of Cape Town, its affiliates or their third party providers and their directors, officers, shareholders, employees or agents be liable to any party for any direct, incidental, exemplary, compensatory, punitive, special or consequential damages, costs, expenses, legal fees, or losses (including, without limitation, lost income or lost profits and opportunity costs) in connection with any use of such information even if advised of the possibility of such damages.

Table of Contents

(1	Bac	kgrou	nd	6
2	Aim	is of t	nis research programme	7
3	The	actio	n context at the level of the individual: background	8
	3.1	Meas	uring risk perceptions and determinants of risk perceptions in this research programme	8
		3.1.1	The psychological distance (closeness) of climate change	9
		3.1.2	Experience of extreme weather events	9
		3.1.3	Social norms	9
		3.1.4	Values	10
		3.1.5	Demographics	10

4	Project approach			
	4.1	Data collection procedure	11	
	4.2	Questionnaire survey item measures and summarised survey results	11	

5	Info	rming	climate services that better match the individual-level action context	14
	5.1	A mo	del for how risk perception determinants influence action on climate change	14
		5.1.1	Accounting for personal experience of extreme weather/climate events	16
		5.1.2	Accounting for psychological closeness of climate change	18
		5.1.3	Accounting for social norms	20
		5.1.4	Some final considerations	22

$\langle 7 \rangle$	Cur	ent use and desire of v	weather/climate information	26
	7.1	Weather/climate information used		
		7.1.1 Observed and short-t	term information use	26
		7.1.1.1 Barriers and	l enablers to observed and short-term information use	27
		7.1.2 Impacts information	use	28
		7.1.2.1 Barriers and	l enablers to use of projected impacts information	28
		7.1.3 Longer-term climate	information use	29
		7.1.3.1 Barriers and	l enablers to use of longer-term climate information	30
	7.2	Weather/climate informat	tion desired	31
	7.3	Formats of climate inform	ation products desired	32
8 Additional concluding recommendations			33	
		-		
	Refe	rences		34
Annex: Survey results 37				

List of tables

Table 1: Items measured through the questionnaire, and corresponding summary results

List of figures

Figure 1: The pathway from determinants of risk perceptions to action (at work) on climate change.	15
Figure A1: Climate change action (in a professional and private capacity)	37
Figure A2: Risk perceptions	37
Figure A3: Psychological distance (closeness)	38
Figure A4: Experience of extreme events	38
Figure A5: Social Norms	39
Figure A6: Values	39
Figure A7: Socio-demographics: Age, Gender, Education	40
Figure A8: Use of weather/climate information	40
Figure A9: Type of information currently used in a professional capacity	41
Figure A10: Desired type of information	41
Figure A11: Desired format of information	42
Figure A12: Trusted sources of information	42

Background

Climate change is recognised as one of the biggest threats facing humanity in the 21st century. While mitigation will reduce further warming, past emissions have already committed us to a degree of inevitable warming that requires adaptation action. Effective adaptation action should depend on, amongst other things, the use of appropriate and relevant weather and climate information for evidence-based decision-making. This is particularly important at the policy level because of the wide-reaching influence of natural resource management and sustainability policy on the direction of climate change adaptation.

However, to date, while responding to short-term weather extremes and implementing longerterm climate change adaptation measures is occurring, action often happens in the absence of climate information. Much of the climate services literature points to the weak link between disaster management/adaptation action and the use of climate information as being a result of a poor match between climate information and the local user context (e.g. Jones et al., 2015; Singh et al., 2018). Therefore, there is reason to believe that there is room for improvement in the way that climate information is designed, delivered and communicated within the climate services field in order to make it more appealing and accessible for specific audiences.

There are many ways to approach gaining an understanding of the climate services user context. However, due to the significant risks posed by climate variability and change, the field of risk perceptions offers a rich entry point. Risk perceptions also underlie both willingness to act and tangible action on climate risks. Therefore, a better understanding of the dynamics of the local drivers of risk perceptions provides valuable information about drivers to action. This knowledge can, in turn, be used to understand how the drivers of risk perception and action influence the use of climate information within a user group, providing a knowledge base from which to a) design more contextrelevant climate services; and b) design climate services that are more suited to motivating action.

From this theoretical background, the WISER TRANSFORM project developed a research programme to understand the climate services user context of policy decision influencers in east Africa. Policy decision influencers are here defined as the people who have either a direct or indirect effect on countries' natural resource management and sustainability policies. They may include, for instance, governmental officials, NGO practitioners, researchers, development agency staff and so forth. Policy decision influencers are a particularly important audience to reach through climate services because of their potential to introduce and entrench both short- and long-term adaptation initiatives. Therefore, an understanding of the factors that drive their risk perceptions and actions provides valuable contextual understanding for designing more effective, contextually-specific climate services.

Aims of this research programme

This research programme of the TRANSFORM project had three overall main aims:

- 1. To strengthen the link between climate adaptation action of policy decision influencers, and use of climate services: by thinking about how to develop climate services that are better able to account for the various factors that drive people's actions (the action context). Ideally, the action context should be explored at both individual and structural (wider social, economic, institutional, political and regulatory) levels. However, in the TRANSFORM project, particular focus was paid to the individual level, as there has not been so much attention paid to this level in the climate services field, and relatively little in the adaptation field too. Structural factors behind why adaptation action occurs or does not occur have received much more attention, consider for example, the large literature on adaptation governance barriers and enablers.
- To maximise the use and uptake of climate services by designing climate services that best fit/ respond to the current status quo of climate services information use and desire among policy decision influencers.
- 3. To maximise the use and uptake of specific different types of climate information (timescales, "pure climate" vs. "impacts" information, and formats), by considering what elements of the action context (at both individual and structural levels), and of the current status quo of climate services information use and desire, need to be responded to. If more is known about what types of climate information policy decision influencers currently use, and why, and what they may desire and why, recommendations can be made for ways in which the use of specific different types of climate information may be optimised.

Addressing the three aims of the project requires exploring the following three broad topics:

- The factors that drive or impede people's actions at the level of the individual, how they interrelate, and what their relative contribution to action is, so that climate services can be developed that better match this action context. Some theoretical background is necessary to explain the WISER project's approach towards data collection on the action context at the level of the individual, and is presented in section 3.
- The factors that drive or impede people's actions at the structural level, so that climate services
 can be developed that better match this structural context; as mentioned, this was not an area of
 focus for this project, though the in-depth phase of the project (as described in the methodology)
 was designed to be open to information on structural-level factors arising through data collection.
 Therefore, no background will be provided on the action context at the structural level.
- The current use of different types and sources of climate information, and the desired use for different types and sources of climate information. Explanations for the use of and preferences for determined climate services will be offered based on the understanding gained of individual-level factors and structural-level factors.

3 The action context at the level of the individual: background

Climate services entail the tailoring and delivery of weather and climate information messages for use in decision-making with respect to climate variability and change. Hence climate services are speaking into a context of risk. Risk about how climate variability (heavy rains, prolonged dry spells etc.) may impact an area, or risks about the impacts of longer-term climatic changes. Risk messaging is likely to be more effective when it not only imparts knowledge but is also suited to the socio-cultural context to which it is targeted (van der Linden, 2015).

Risk perceptions are important to understand because they underpin individual action on climate change and the types of information people need or use to act. In other words, if people perceive a risk from climate variability or change then they are more likely to act on it. Risk perceptions are, broadly, people's perceived assessment of the likelihood and severity of a risk in combination with a perceived threat to personal or societal wellbeing. So, the question becomes, what drives this assessment?

Risk perceptions are influenced by a suite of determinants. One of these determinants is knowledge about the risk (what people know and understand about the risk). However, knowledge has been shown to exert a relatively small influence on people's risk perceptions and/or their associated behaviour. Yet, to date, climate services have concentrated most of their efforts on increasing knowledge about climate variability and change in the hope that it will encourage action. This approach can be argued to have been a somewhat misguided one because other determinants of risk perceptions have been shown to play a greater role in driving peoples' risk perceptions. In the following section, the suite of risk perception determinants that were examined through this project will be reviewed. In the subsequent sections their relevance to the production, design and dissemination of climate services will be explained.

3.1 Measuring risk perceptions and determinants of risk perceptions in this research programme

The literature about how risk perceptions should be measured is in disagreement. Some studies take the approach of asking respondents to rank "how risky is Y activity?" while others ask questions concerning people's perceived probability, consequence or emotion attached to a risk. In this project, the widely-applied approach of assessing people's worry about climate change as a measure of their risk perceptions was used, as has been done in other studies (e.g. Spence et al., 2012; Carlton and Jacobson, 2013; Lujala et al., 2015).

Adding to debates about measuring risk perceptions, there is also debate about what suite of factors *determine* risk perceptions. No one study has been able to identify a set of factors that determine 100% of the variance in risk perceptions. Therefore, in this project, determinants of risk perceptions were chosen based on a number of criteria: 1) they appeared as important risk perceptions determinants in the international literature; 2) their selection was appropriate for the African context; 3) they offered

potential to inform the development and design of climate services; and 4) they had potential for data collection within the constraints of the east African context.

Therefore, this study selected a set of climate change risk perception determinants (hereafter simply referred to as risk perception determinants) for inclusion. These are social norms, psychological distance (closeness) of climate change, experience of extreme weather events, values and demographic variables (gender, age and education). These determinants are each explained further in the following section.

3.1.1 The psychological distance (closeness) of climate change

Psychological distance is a measure of a person's personal perception of something (e.g. objects, events) as either close or far away, and can therefore influences people's perceptions of risk. The principles of psychological distance are defined with respect to four dimensions, namely: whether an event is close or remote in time and space (temporal and spatial dimension), whether it refers to ours or other people's experiences (social dimension) and whether it is certain or uncertain to occur (hypothetical dimension) (Trope and Liberman, 2003). Each of the four psychological dimensions have been shown to significantly correlate with each other. For instance, if an event is perceived as unlikely to occur then it also brings to mind people other than oneself (social distance), a distant future (temporal distance) and remote locations (spatial distance).

Literature from the global north has often documented climate change as a psychologically distant threat. In turn, the psychological distance of climate change is often cited as a reason that people do not act on climate change (Lorenzoni and Pidgeon, 2006; Spence et al. 2012; Mcdonald et al., 2015; Jones et al., 2017). However, there is very little literature on the psychological distance of climate change in Africa, including how this may affect risk perceptions and action on climate change.

3.1.2 Experience of extreme weather events

While it is difficult to attribute any particular extreme weather event to climate change, it has been shown that personal experience of extreme weather events can increase people's climate change risk perceptions, because extreme weather events result in a concrete understanding of the kinds of risks that climate change poses (Weber, 2006). There is a growing body of evidence that suggests a belief, within Africa, that extreme and erratic weather events are increasing, primarily as a result of climate change (Selormey et al., 2019). This increasing awareness of changing weather events attributed to climate change provides good reason to believe that the experience of extreme weather events in Africa may be important in informing climate change risk perceptions on the continent.

3.1.3 Social norms

Social norms can be defined as the shared ideas about "the right way to behave" (e.g. Cialdini 2003), the unwritten rules of behavior that are considered acceptable in a group or society. An example of a social norm, in certain cultures (particularly Western ones), is shaking hands when greeting another person. There are two main types of norms: (a) injunctive (prescriptive) norms, which describe what most people approve or disapprove of; and (b) descriptive norms, which refer to what most others do. If climate change is viewed as a high risk by the social groups to which an individual feels a sense of belonging, then it is likely that the individual's perception of climate risk will also be high. This is similarly applicable to the actions and behaviour that result from the social groups' perceptions of climate change. For instance, a carbon-dependent

lifestyle, which contributes to climate change, has become a socially-acceptable way of behaving in the West. This lifestyle includes activities such as driving to work, flying to overseas holidays, leaving appliances on stand-by and importing food from foreign countries. In these cases, social acceptability outweighs people's knowledge that these activities are exacerbating climate change.

3.1.4 Values

Values underlie the moral make-up of a person and guide their actions, judgements, attitudes, evaluations and choices. Importantly, values transcend particular situations and so are fairly stable. For instance, if honesty is a core element of a person's value system, then they will tend to apply this principle wherever they go, be it at work, socially or with strangers. According to Schwartz's (1992) influential work, values can be broadly broken down into 10 basic values held by people in dozens of nations around the world.

Some of these types of values cluster together into what Schwartz calls the "self-enhancement" and "self-transcendent" values. Self-enhancing values are exemplified by the pursuit of self-interest and concern the attempt to stand out from others through the acquisition of money, status, and the like. Self-transcending values, on the other hand, focus outside of the individual self towards the greater good of fellow humans and the environment. The two clusters of values tend to be in opposition to each other, in other words, a person tends to hold self-enhancing values at the expense of self-transcending values, and vice versa.

The two dimensions of self-enhancing and self-transcending values have been shown to link to lesser or greater acceptance of environmental action and engagement in related behaviours, including on climate change. For instance, people with more self-transcending values have been shown to have a greater perception of climate change risk and are more supportive of pro-environmental policies (Poortinga et al., 2019) whereas people with self-enhancing values have been shown to have a lower perception of climate change risk (Smith and Leiserowitz, 2012). It follows that values are likely to be important in informing climate change risk perceptions and associated action on climate change in the African context.

3.1.5 Demographics

Demographic variables include factors such as gender, age and educational qualification. Each of these factors have been linked to risk perceptions through previous literature. Research suggests that risk perceptions tends to be higher amongst women than men (Poortinga et al., 2019). This is similarly true for the older generation, who show a higher risk perception than the younger generation (Poortinga et al., 2019). Finally, higher educational attainment and socio-economic status has been variably linked to either increased or decreased risk perception (Sundblad et al., 2007; Akerlof et al., 2013).

Project approach

4

Respondents were required to be active in a sector or field relevant to natural resource management or directly impacted by climate variability or change. Respondents were sourced from the five east African countries of Kenya, Uganda, Rwanda, Tanzania and Ethiopia.

4.1 Data collection procedure

Data collection for the project was executed in two main phases:

- 1. A questionnaire survey that collected data relevant to each of the items in Table 1 below. The survey was designed to collect information on the factors that drive or impede people's actions at the level of the individual (risk perception determinants) and the current use of different types and sources of climate information, and the desired use for different types and sources of climate information. The surveying took place between September 2018 and January 2019 and was carried out by in-country enumerators, on a one-on-one basis, in each of the five countries. A total of 616 surveys were gathered.
- 2. Semi-structured interviews that collected in-depth data to explore and explain in greater detail the risk perceptions determinants, the factors that drive or impede people's actions at the structural level, the current use of different types and sources of climate information, and the desired use for different types and sources of climate information. A total of 36 face-to-face interviews were carried out by a trained interviewer with a purposive sample of policy decision influencers in Kenya and Ethiopia. Interviews took place between August and October 2019.

4.2 Questionnaire survey item measures and summarised survey results

With respect to the first phase of the data collection, Table 1 presents the items measured, how they were measured and the summary results of the survey. Associated graphed results are presented in the Annex. The results of the second phase of data collection are used to explore and explain the summary results, and as such inform and complement the discussions in the following sections (5 to 7).

ITEM MEASURED	MEASURED THROUGH	SUMMARY AUDIENCE RESULTS
Climate change action (in a professional capacity)	One question measuring action on climate change at work. Measured on a five-point Likert scale from 'strongly disagree' to 'strongly agree'	The vast majority of respondents agree/strongly agree that they take action on climate change in a professional capacity. (see Figure A1)
Risk perceptions	Three questions assessing worry about climate change. Measured on a five- point Likert scale from 'not worried' to 'very worried'	The vast majority of participants are worried/very worried about climate change, particularly in terms of how it may impact their local area. This indicates a high degree of climate change risk perceptions amongst the audience (see Figure A2)
Psychological distance (closeness)	Seven questions covering the four components of psychological distance. Measured on a five-point Likert scale from 'from 'strongly disagree' to 'strongly agree'	Climate change is psychologically close amongst the respondents. This result was particularly evident in the overwhelming perception that climate change is already impacting their local area (see Figure A3)
Experience of extreme events	Four questions assessing how often, in the last five years, respondents had experienced a) flood events, b) droughts, c) high temperatures/heat events d) change to the rainy season pattern. Measured on a five-point Likert scale from 'never' (zero times) to 'very often' (more than ten times)	Experience of extreme weather events is high amongst the respondents with most respondents indicating that they either sometimes/often/very often experience extreme weather events. The most commonly experienced event is changes to the rainy season's patterns. This is followed by the experiences of high temperatures and then flooding events (see Figure A4)
Social norms	Six questions assessing descriptive and prescriptive norms. Measured on a five-point Likert scale from 'strongly disagree' to 'strongly agree'	The majority of respondents agree/ strongly agree that they observe both descriptive and prescriptive social norms for taking action to prevent impacts from climate change. These activities include the use of climate information in their work (see Figure A5)
Values	Standard 21 questions from the Portrait Values Survey designed by Schwartz for the European Social Survey (https://www. europeansocialsurvey.org/docs/ methodology/core_ess_questionnaire/ ESS_core_questionnaire_human_ values.pdf). Measured on a seven- point Likert scale from 'not like me at all' to 'very much like me'	The majority of respondents have a tendency towards self-transcending values (see Figure A6)
Socio-demographics: age	One question asking respondents to tick a 10-year age bracket	Respondents' ages primarily range from 20 to 60 years old, with the most respondents falling into the 30-39 year old category (see Figure A7)
Socio-demographics: gender	One question asking respondents to choose between female, male or non- binary genders	The majority of the respondents (more than two-thirds) are male, the remainder female (see Figure A7)

ITEM MEASURED	MEASURED THROUGH	SUMMARY AUDIENCE RESULTS
Socio-demographics: education	One question asking respondents to note their highest level of educational attainment	The respondents represent an educated sample, with the majority holding either a graduate or post- graduate degree (see Figure A7)
Use of weather/ climate information	One question assessing respondents' frequency of use of weather/climate information in their work. Measured on a five-point Likert scale from 'never' to 'very frequently'	The majority of respondents frequently/very frequently use weather/climate information in their job (see Figure A8)
Type of weather/ climate information currently used for work	One question asking respondents to selection the types of weather/climate information they currently use in their jobs. Selection options included: observed/historical data, daily to weekly forecasts, seasonal forecasts, 1–5 year forecasts, projections of climate 5 years or more into the future, and impacts information	The most frequently used types of weather/climate information are 1) daily/weekly forecast information 2) seasonal forecasts 3) observed/ historical information (see Figure A9)
Source of weather/ climate information	One open-ended question asking where the respondents get weather/ climate information	The most frequently cited sources of weather/climate information were, in first place, country National Meteorological Services, followed by the media (radio, TV or newspapers) in second place
Applications of weather/climate information	One open-ended question asking what the respondent uses weather/climate information for	While responses were distributed across a diversity of uses, the top three consisted of 1) daily operations, 2) research and 3) planning
Desired type of weather/climate information	Two questions asking respondents about their desire for different types of weather/climate information. Options, to be ranked by the respondent, included: observed/historical data, daily to weekly forecasts, seasonal forecasts, 1-5 year forecasts and projections of climate 5 years or more into the future. A separate open-ended question was asked about desire for impacts information	The most frequently desired types of weather/climate information were 1) daily/weekly forecast information, 2) seasonal forecasts, 3) observed/ historical information (see Figure A10)
Desired format of weather/climate information	One question asking respondents to rank their desired information format. Options, to be ranked by the respondent, included: raw data, visual data, a mixture of visual and text, text, and verbal	The most frequently desired format for weather/climate information were 1) visual information (maps/graphs), 2) raw data, 3) a mixture of text and visual information (infographics) (see Figure A11)
Trusted sources of information	One question asking respondents to choose (and rank) their 3 most trusted sources of weather/climate information	The majority of respondents highlighted the National Meteorological Service as their top trusted source of weather/climate information (see Figure A12)

Informing climate services that better match the individual-level action context

5

Analyses that informed this section

- Correlation analysis between each of the risk perception determinants, action and use of climate information services.
- Multiple linear regression analysis to investigate which of the variables explain the greatest variance in 1) climate change risk perceptions and 2) action on climate change.
- Structural equation modelling to develop and test a causal model between risk perception determinants and action on climate change (more details on the statistical analysis and the structural equation modelling will be presented in a forthcoming academic paper).
- Qualitative analysis of the semi-structured interviews to explain and interpret the results from the statistical analyses

As previously stated, if the climate services field engages appropriately with the determinants of risk perceptions and action, ultimately there may be more action taken on climate variability and change. If risk perceptions are related to action, the more risk perception determinants that climate services can account for when producing and disseminating climate information, the more action they may be able to stimulate (because they will be targeting the context, at the individual level, that underpins action on climate change).

This section addresses how the different risk perception determinants drive people's risk perceptions and action, how they interrelate, and what their relative contribution to action is. On the basis of this understanding, it explains at each step how the production, design and dissemination of climate information/services can appropriately account for the risk perception determinants.

5.1 A model for how risk perception determinants influence action on climate change

Through statistical analysis of the questionnaire survey results, the project developed a model for how risk perception determinants influence action on climate change amongst east African policy decision influencers. It is worth highlighting that no significant differences were found among the five east African countries regarding the results of risk perception determinants. In other words, the countries were fairly homogenous in terms of their responses to questions that informed the risk perception determinants. The final model is presented in Figure 1.



FIGURE 1: The pathway from determinants of risk perceptions to action (at work) on climate change. Standardised regression weights (all statistically significant) are shown as numbers on each line. The error terms are represented by E1 to E8.

The model shows that there are two main pathways that lead to action on climate change. **The first pathway to action** is an expected pathway, in that individuals with self-transcending values are more likely to report experiencing extreme weather events due to climate change, which in turn means they are more likely to view climate change as psychologically close. Greater psychological closeness also increases climate change risk perceptions and leads to a greater likelihood that respondents notice/feel there are both injunctive and descriptive norms in their personal and work environments that require them to act on climate change and use climate information in their job. Greater climate change risk perceptions lead to greater action. Greater reporting of injunctive and descriptive norms for action on climate change and use of climate information at work also leads to greater action, and has the strongest effect on action than any of the other risk perception determinants, or even a person's level of risk perception.

What leads to self-transcending values? While there are many factors that influence people's values, which were not explored by our study (and therefore will not appear in our model), one socio-demographic variable considered in our study was positively linked to self-transcending values. This variable was people's level of formal education: as people's formal education rose, so did their self-transcending values. The recommendation that logically follows is that the climate services community may wish to consider how it can raise capacity among users by providing, for one example, targeted short courses to fill education gaps.

The majority of the respondent sample possessed self-transcending values, which is not unexpected given that the average education level of the respondents was fairly high (refer to section 4, Table 1) and that the sample was made up of policy decision influencers, whom we might reasonably expect to report high levels of self-transcending values because of their involvement in fields related to natural resource management and climate-compatible development, which are related to environmental sustainability.

This pathway to action suggests that for samples made up of policy decision influencers, designing climate services that account for all the following risk perception determinants might increase climate action: personal experience of extreme weather events, psychological closeness, and social norms on climate change action and climate information use. They are explored in further detail in relevant sections below.

5.1.1 Accounting for personal experience of extreme weather/climate events

Designing climate services that account for personal experience of extreme weather events implies a need to establish which extreme weather events - and/or more broadly climate events or impacts - are seen to occur in a target area, and designing climate information products that are related to those events as a first step towards maximising the use of weather/climate information. The questionnaire survey revealed that the most frequent extreme weather events experienced by respondents were changes to the rainy season's patterns, followed by high temperatures and heat, then floods and then droughts – although there were not particularly large differences in reported numbers for these events. To some extent, there is alignment between these findings and what was revealed in the interviews, and the findings regarding what respondents reported desiring most frequently in terms of impacts information (crop yields and flood risk). However, it is surprising that neither the interviews nor the question on what respondents most desire in terms of impacts information raised a concern with high temperature/heat events, despite these being the second most frequent category of extreme events experienced across the sample. This finding may be a reflection of the fact that the survey asked respondents to indicate the extreme events that had occurred in their town or city. However, for the question on desired impacts information, and in the interviews, respondents were asked to think specifically in relation to their jobs, which may require them to think much broadly or outside of the experiences in their local area/city. As a matter of fact, the interviews made clear that mostly, respondents reported seeing the impacts of climate change and/or of extreme weather events in fields that were closely tied to their work expertise and experience, rather than their personal lives. The field of work a person is embedded in drives their work-related engagement with specific climate events/impacts and climate information (unsurprisingly). This finding implies that if the climate services field wishes to increase the uptake and use of climate-related information in people's jobs, it is necessary to ask them about climate impacts/extreme weather events that have been experienced as part of their job, and use those events as entry points for engagement.

In practical terms, it is not necessarily the "objective" occurrence of climate events that needs to be established. It is the climate events that the target audience deems their area of work to be vulnerable to. For example, in African regions, many areas are concerned with flooding events. These however may be less a result of changes in extreme rainfall, and more a result of inadequate drainage and waste management systems and increasing urbanization in urban areas. In rural areas, they may be more due to environmental degradation and siltation than to changes in rainfall. This implies a need to strike a balance between the extreme events that users perceive their sector/field of work to be vulnerable to (the "subjective" climate events), and the "objective" climate events that a sector may be experiencing as a result of changes in weather or climate. While flooding might be a foremost concern in some areas, if flooding is not linked to changes in extreme precipitation as much as it is to changes in land-use cover and human practices, it may be a helpful frame

to encourage the use of climate/weather information, but may not make much difference to resolving flood risk on the ground – if the behaviour that will make the most difference to flooding over time is, for example, reducing cultivation adjacent to river banks (rather than monitoring rainfall for flood early warnings).

It is, however, possible to consider how to use current events that are of existing concern to users as a starting point for discussions around, and engagements on, the uptake and use of climate services, and then where necessary, sensitize users to which events (and related climate information) may require greater attention and concern. In other words, initially focusing the production and dissemination of climate services upon the extreme events/climate impacts that an audience is concerned with could serve the purpose of using that concern as a "springboard" for encouraging greater use of weather and climate services, as long as one designs those engagements in a way that shifts the focus gradually to the climate services that are more objectively necessary for effective climate action on the ground. For a very simplistic example, a region may be concerned with drought and therefore wish to receive information on rainfall changes, but if evapotranspiration were to play a large role because of increasing temperature levels, climate services could sensitize the audience to the importance of temperature changes.

A key point for the climate services field is that it may be helpful to make clear for target audiences when and how using more weather/climate information can help with the management of climate-related events and impacts. In the case of flooding, for some areas it may be the helpful response for climate services to highlight that while a greater reliance on monitoring rainfall levels and developing forecasts can assist with flooding, the better response might be not to focus the greater part of resource allocation on improving early warning systems, but to improve drainage capacity by removing waste (i.e. in areas that are not expected to see as great changes in rainfall as they are expected to see changes in urbanization). Conversely, in some areas is may be appropriate for the climate services community to largely focus upon encouraging a reliance on monitoring rainfall levels and developing forecasts, because those areas are indeed expected to see significant changes in rainfall intensity.

Another relevant set of recommendation follows from the fact that extreme weather events are often linked to strong emotions; personal experiences with threats or hazards can raise strong emotions, therefore making them more memorable and dominant in information processing. The human brain relies on two information-processing systems (e.g. Chaiken and Trope, 1999). One system, called experiential, is intuitive, automatic, emotional and fast. The other system is analytical: it is deliberate, effortful, rational and slow. While these two systems act together to guide judgment and decision-making, experiential thinking is more prevalent than analytical thinking (e.g. Slovic et al., 2005; Marx and Weber, 2012). Affective reactions to risk dominate decision-making, such that where cognitive and affective assessments of risk diverge, it is affective assessments which tend to drive behaviour (Loewenstein et al., 2001). In other words, how we intuitively feel about a situation often has a stronger influence on our decision-making than what we know about it. Climate change is studied in statistical terms (e.g., by analysing long-term changes in temperature and precipitation patterns), and, hence, it is generally presented in abstract and analytical language, especially to decision-makers. This approach, however, assumes that people process uncertain information in a logical and analytical manner, an assumption that has been shown to be generally incorrect. Marx et al. (2007) suggest that analytical information is best understood when it is tailored to the context of the decisionmaker's situation. Climate information that is tailored to the emotional experiences of the audience has more impact and can lead to more public attention. Scenarios, narratives and analogies can help the audience to engage with climate information and envisage a future where the potential consequences of climate change are played out, which influences both personal behaviour as well as public policy and is more likely to result in contingency planning. However, while it is beneficial to draw on experience-based

decision-making in communication, experiential processing is beset with its own biases such as the finite pool of worry (people have a limited capacity for how many issues they can worry about at once) and single action bias (relying on only one action to reduce a threat) (Leiserowitz, 2006). The most effective communication and engagement targets both processing systems of the human brain, and therefore both the analytic and experiential processing systems should be considered in the format and communication of climate information (Marx et al., 2007; CRED, 2009). Alongside the more common analytical tools (e.g. trend analyses, forecast probabilities, and ranges of uncertainty), experiential tools that can be used when presenting climate information include vivid imagery and messages designed to create, recall, and highlight relevant personal experience and to elicit an emotional response; examples include film footage, metaphors, personal accounts, real-world analogies, concrete comparisons, 3D modelling, and gaming approaches. In summary, climate services should be designed in a way that elicits personal (which in the context of policy decision influencers, we suggest means "work-related") experience with climatic events and impacts.

A specific note regarding climate change is required here. If one desires the audience to take action on longterm climate change, extreme weather events have been suggested to be able to provide effective frames with which to sensitise audiences to the potential impacts of climate change, because these events are vivid, concrete and dramatic (CRED, 2009). The numerous examples of different extreme events that respondents reported on in the survey (and examples of climate change impacts reported in the interviews) suggest there are many opportunities for the recurring "teachable moments" that CRED (2009: 10) suggests communicators can use to relate climate change to the experience of a local audience. **Therefore, the climate services field could use this technique to relate climate change to the extreme event experiences of target audiences** (although this recommendation is more relevant to target audiences that are not well-sensitized to climate change – not the case with the policy decision influencers examined here). CRED (2009) reports the example of a very long-lasting and severe drought that occurred in some parts of Australia and that increased awareness of climate change, resulting in greater support for measures to combat climate change.

5.1.2 Accounting for psychological closeness of climate change

Designing climate services that account for psychological closeness/distance requires an understanding of how the psychological closeness of a threat influences the way people think. This is explained through construal level theory, developed by Liberman and Trope (1998), who first introduced the concept of psychological distance. The main principle of construal level theory is that there is a relationship between the psychological distance of an event and the way people mentally construe (i.e. think about) the event and, in turn, the types of information they may use to act on the event. When an event is psychologically close it promotes emotional and cognitive engagement with the event. For instance, the imminent threat of a flood may bring to mind images of wading through one's house to rescue sentimental objects and evacuate vulnerable family members. These types of psychologically close threats are typically associated with "lowlevel" construal, which is a type of comprehension composed of concrete thinking and specific detailed features where feasibility, safety and the attainability of a good outcome become the primary areas of focus. On the other hand, when a threat is psychologically distant it can be more difficult to relate to and more effort is required to mentally construe it. For instance, the possibility of flooding in the long-term future, without recent experience of a flood, does not provide any direct specific contextualisation of the situation or sensory detail. Therefore, psychologically distant events are typically associated with "high-level" construal, which results in a type of comprehension composed of abstract and general features.

The questionnaire survey revealed that, amongst policy decision influencers in east Africa, climate change is psychologically close. This finding was particularly stark in the temporal distance component where the

overwhelming majority of survey respondents felt that they are already experiencing the effects of climate change. However, all of the climate change components of psychological distance (spatial, temporal, social and hypothetical) were psychologically close for respondents. This finding contrasts with the majority of studies undertaken in the global north, which predominantly find that climate change is psychologically distant (see section 3.1.1). It is worth noting that the interviews reinforced the findings from the questionnaire survey. Many of the participants noted that climate change is happening now and is already impacting people. None of the interviewees expressed any doubt that climate change is happening. The psychological closeness of climate change in an African context is an important finding of this study.

But what does this mean for designing climate services? An understanding of the psychological distance of climate change has potential to inform many aspects of climate services. Given that the results of the survey suggest that climate change is considered psychologically close in the east African region, policy decision influencers should be in a state of low-level construal, meaning that decisions about climate change will require concrete, solutions-based information from the climate services community. This is a mental state in which uncertain statements and mixed messaging creates frustration and may act as a hindrance to decision-making. Yet, the current status quo within the climate services community is to provide exactly the kind of uncertain messaging about climate change that lies in opposition to the user's mental state. Currently climate change projections are presented as ensembles (ranges of uncertainty) of change that are, often, divorced from impacts information. While it is not scientifically possible or feasible at this stage to reduce the scientific uncertainty, it is possible to work more closely with the impacts community to better understand what the projections may mean for impacts and, in turn, the kinds of solutions that may be proposed to address the impacts. If these possible impacts and proposed suite of solutions were presented to the policy decision influencer community, in combination with the climate projections, they would likely go a long way towards providing the kind of concrete and solutions-based information that they seem to need to inform their decisions.

The second aspect of climate services that can be informed by our understanding of climate change as psychologically close in east Africa is the timescale of priority for decision-makers. Of the four components of psychological distance measured in the survey, the most striking results came from the question measuring the temporal distance component. The participants were asked when they thought their local area would start feeling the effects of climate change. Ninety-three percent of the sample answered that they were already feeling the effects of climate change. This finding suggests that when people consider planning for climate change, they may not view it as planning for the distant future but may be considering themselves to be making decisions about climate change in the here and now. This means that the climate services community likely needs to continue to recognize the importance of providing short-term (monthly to seasonal) forecasts to these communities, in combination with longer term projections (see also section 7.1.3 – longer term information use). Short-term planning for climate variability, in combination with knowledge of longer-term changes, has the potential to support robust climate change adaptation solutions that address short as well as long term needs. However, the current uncertainty inherent in the longer-term climate projections, together with the obvious and pressing need to address short-term problems related to extreme climate events, may be reasons why decision-makers tend to focus on short-term decisions without accompanying longer-term climate change considerations.

Finally, construal level (as informed by psychological distance) also has an influence on what format people like to receive information in. Studies have shown that people in low-level construal (a state of psychological closeness) react better to information presented visually (Yan et al., 2016). For instance, infographics or clear maps may be more impactful than written reports or raw data. In addition, the way

information is framed is also an important factor. Studies have shown that when people are in low-level construal they react better to information framed in terms of losses (negatively framed information) as opposed to gains (Chang et al., 2015) (see also section 6). For instance, when communicating the risk of flooding, a loss framed message may be: "deaths from Malaria may rise by 10% by 2030 unless insecticide-treated net programmes are expanded" whereas a gain framed message may be "expanding insecticide-treated net programmes will prevent deaths from Malaria rising by 10% by 2030". A subtle reframing of the manner and format in which messages are communicated can have a significant impact on whether the information is well-received and acted upon.

One important point in relation to information framed in terms of losses is that it is important to also highlight action(s) that can be taken to mitigate against those losses (as demonstrated in the example above). The messages most effective for achieving a desired change in behaviour are considered to be those that stress the negative consequences of the current behaviour while providing recommendations for how the negative consequences can be avoided (e.g. O'Neill et al. 2013). The reason is that psychology-based literatures suggest that one key determinant of action is the feeling of efficacy (e.g. Morton et al. 2011).

5.1.3 Accounting for social norms

The most important leverage point, however, is to design climate services that account for social norms on climate change action and climate information use, for two reasons. The first is that social norms have the strongest effect on action, and the second, is that they were the only pathway to action for people holding self-enhancing values. **The second pathway to action** is a pathway that, to our knowledge, has been rarely reported on in the climate change literature. In this pathway, individuals with self-enhancing values (which as expected, are negatively correlated with self-transcending values) still report taking climate-relevant action through the influence of social norms. In other words, the more a person holds self-enhancing values, the more likely they are to report noticing/feeling that there are both injunctive and descriptive norms in their personal and work environments that require them to act on climate change and use climate information in their job. We theorize that this effect may be due to the possibility that individuals with self-enhancing values are more likely to scan for, and respond to, cues in their professional environments that will support their personal advancement, consistent with their personally-oriented ambitions/goals. As the accepted norm appears to be to act on climate change, they may be more likely to want to conform to this norm.

Influencing social norms has been a popular lever for attempts to transform behaviour in real-world contexts, because "humans are especially motivated to understand and to follow the norms of groups that we belong to and care about" (Tankard et al., 2016: 184), and therefore, changing the perceptions people have about social norms is a powerful and cost-effective way of creating or reinforcing collective changes in behaviour. But how might the climate services field leverage social norms to influence use and uptake of climate information, and (if desired), climate-relevant action?

Yamin et al. (2019) present a systematic review of social norm interventions applied across a range of fields. Based on their review, the following approaches may offer potential to the climate services community:

 Create climate services material that outlines what other similar groups are doing in terms of climate services use (social norms marketing). These are interventions based on messages about the general rates in which people engage, approve or disapprove of the target behaviour (persuasive messages about the behaviour or opinion of the group). An example message for the climate services field, if the target audience were, for instance, urban local authorities, might be along the lines of "many African cities are joining climate networks and using global climate model projections to plan their development".

- 2. Include strategic messages within climate services products that provide rates or prevalence of certain desired behaviours amongst a certain population. This provides more fact-based information that aims to speak more directly to a certain audience but requires more background knowledge to inform the message. For instance, if one wanted to increase the use of a certain climate information timescale within a sector, an example message may be "80% of professionals in the water sector in Kenya are using climate change projections for the 2080s to plan their infrastructure projects".
- 3. Host interactive or reflection processes that highlight the desired use of climate services amongst other groups or people and seek to correct misperceptions. This category of approaches focuses on creating the conditions for exposing the target audience to the behaviours or opinions of others. This includes, for example, generating collective discussions between selected user, representing drama skits with personal experiences or simulated situations. Transdisciplinary co-production engagements, that are already taking place within many climate service activities, may present a perfect opportunity for this kind of social norm intervention, depending on their set up. For instance, they often enable the coming together of like-minded individuals to take action on climate change. The establishment of such a community provides a reinforcing effect, particularly if social referents (individuals that are especially influential over people's perceptions of norms) are endorsing or rejecting particular behaviours, for example endorsing the use of long-term climate information.
- 4. Have respected or well-known figures publicly endorse the desired use of climate services. Researchers have found that there are certain people in society who hold more influence than others when it comes to their persuasive effect. Some studies have shown that it is possible to change the behaviours of whole groups just by using this technique. The survey results from this project indicate that there were certain sources of information that are more trusted over others (e.g. country national meteorological services) however, this question was primarily targeted at organisational sources as opposed to individuals. If this question were asked with respect to individuals, the question may yield different results depending on the audience questioned, for example people might name an eminent politician or a well-respected academic. In other communities/audiences this answer would probably change. For instance, rural communities may be very influenced by messages from community leaders/tribal chiefs/community elders, and religious communities may be strongly influenced by messages from religious leaders.

While these interventions may offer appeal, it is necessary to offer a word of caution. Studies that have looked at the relationship between descriptive (what one observes others doing) and injunctive (what one feels others think one should be doing) norms have shown that targeting descriptive norms alone can have a 'boomerang effect depending on the behaviour levels of the reference group (as reported in Yamin et al., 2019). For example, if an intervention to reduce energy consumption in households focused on informing homeowners about the average energy consumption of their neighbours/community, a message telling a homeowner that their household energy consumption levels are lower than their neighbours' might actually lead to an increase in undesirable behaviours ('it is okay to consume more, because it is what everyone else does'). These effects can be neutralized by adding injunctive elements to the messages (i.e. about social desirability or un-desirability of the behaviour), particularly if they reinforce the desirable behaviour (e.g. Nolan et al., 2008). In a study on voting behaviours, Gerber et al. (2009) also found evidence that descriptive messages about the high occurrence of a desired behaviour ('thousands of people vote so you should too') can be more effective to change behaviour than those about low occurrence ('a low proportion of people vote so you should do it') or even injunctive norms ('it's the right thing to do' or it's a civic duty'), especially among people that don't engage often in the behaviour. Injunctive norms seem to be more effective when formulated in a positive manner ('people think you should do this') in contexts where descriptive norms are weak (Mabry and Turner, 2016).

5.1.4 Some final considerations

The structural equation model highlights that increasing age has two positive effects on eventual climate action. First, it is positively correlated with education, meaning that older policy decision influencers are more likely to have higher education levels and as such higher self-transcending values. Second, it is positively correlated with observing social norms in one's environment. Therefore, the implication for the climate services field is that **targeting older policy decision influencers for engagement may hold positive implications for climate information use and climate action**, especially given that older policy decision influencers will likely hold more senior roles in their organizations and thus have greater decision-making influence (and also because, as will be discussed further in section 7.1.3, increasing age is correlated with increasing use of longer-term climate information).

The structural equation model shows that men tend to hold more self-enhancing values, which reinforces the idea that climate services could usefully consider how to leverage social norms to achieve greater use and uptake of climate services, given that it is likely for many countries that men dominate the policy influencers sphere. In the sample, the proportion of women respondents was 30% and the proportion of male respondents was 70%, which is not expected to be an artefact of the enumerators' sampling choices, given that, as will be discussed further in section 6, respondents feel that men still dominate the policy influencers sphere.

Since education is highly important for the self-transcending values pathway, and since the average education level of the sample was relatively high, we suggest that it is possible to be relatively confident that for policy decision influencer audiences, following the recommendations arising from the first pathway to action can be an effective way of increasing climate-relevant action, even if norms cannot be tackled or leveraged (though this increase would not be as strong as if social norms were leveraged). However, for audiences not consisting of policy decision influencers (at least as they have been defined in this study), or for audiences consisting of policy decision influencers with relatively low levels of education (whom are more likely to hold self-enhancing values, as education is inversely related to self-enhancing values), this assumption is unlikely to hold, and social norms would remain the strongest entry point for the climate services field. Different audiences (e.g. politicians, farmers) may have different pathways to action, and these will need to be explored. In general, however, given the widespread influence of social norms on human behaviour (as discussed in the section above), interventions based on social norms are likely to constitute an effective course of action to increase the use and uptake of climate services by a variety of users.

The implications of the structural context for action and climate services

Analyses that informed this section

• Qualitative analysis of semi-structured interviews.

6

Action is constrained, shaped or enabled also by factors that operate beyond the level of the choices made by individuals. These external influences may include the institutional or policy context as well as mandates, resources and facilities. These and other things make up the structural context for action, which also needs to be considered when designing climate services.

The interviews made apparent that while the respondents felt that there is increasing recognition of the risks of climate variability and change in their countries, the level of action – particularly in terms of preparing for long-term climate change issues – is not yet commensurate with the countries' levels of awareness and recognition.

The interviews made apparent that climate action is skewed towards short-term needs in sectors of prime importance for the country's immediate development priorities and concerns – particularly the water and agriculture sectors. As a matter of fact, a few respondents commented that there is a focus on the use of short-term and/or historical climate information in adaptation action, and a few that there is no use of long-term climate change information in adaptation action. This bias reflects a well-established tension in the literature (Jones et al., 2015; Nissan et al., 2019), that which exists between short-term developmental needs/priorities, and long-term sustainability imperatives (such as planning for long-term climate change). This tension is likely due to the issue of temporal (or delay) discounting: people tend to discount the importance of future costs and benefits, i.e. costs and benefits accrued in the present are typically considered to be worth more than costs and benefits accrued in the future. People typically perceive immediate threats as more relevant and of greater urgency than future problems (e.g. Weber, 2006), and research has shown that people count environmental and financial consequences as less important each year they are delayed (Hardisty and Weber, 2009).

One of the relevant implications for the climate services field is that **the uptake of climate information products might be maximised by focusing on consequences of climate changes for a country's development**, in other words, on impacts information, and that the focus should be on production and availability in the sectors that are assigned greatest priority in each country, in the first instance. Because little impacts information is currently available, one way in the short-term to increase its production might be to convene groups of sector-specific stakeholders/experts together with national meteorological services staff to produce impacts information across sectors, as the Kenyan national meteorological services reportedly does (refer to section 7.1.2.1). The production of climate-related impacts information in sectors that are not of immediate focus in a country may help stimulate action in such sectors, possibly particularly so if the consequences of climatic variability and change in these sectors on developmental outcomes are made more evident. In some cases, this outcome may be achieved by highlighting the interconnections between non-priority and priority sectors. For instance, one interview respondent discussed the example of the need for his country (Kenya) to consider the development of infrastructure such as roads, even while agriculture and livestock are seen as the priority sectors, because in order to support the agricultural value chain and develop commercial agriculture, the provision of adequate (and climate-proofed) transportation links will become essential.

In terms of encouraging longer-term action, and thus the use of longer-term information, the climate services field can consider focusing its impacts information communications in a way that highlights potential current and future losses from not taking action on climate variability and change, rather than focusing on current and future gains from taking action on climate variability and change. The reason is that, if considering gains and losses of equal amount, people tend to give more weight to the threat of a loss than to the opportunity to gain (Elijido-Ten, 2017). When a "gain versus loss" framing is combined with a "now versus the future" framing, people discount future gains more than they discount future losses (Thaler, 1981). This kind of framing could also help motivate policy decision influencers to take action in sectors that are not of immediate priority, if action in the present is crucial to avoid major losses in the future, such as in the example already given above for the transport sector, where lack of action in the present could adversely impact the sustainability of the agricultural sector in the future.

The interviews highlighted that respondents would desire localised climate products for adaptation action. Some interview respondents explicitly commented that data from the national meteorological services does not have a sufficiently great spatial resolution to be used at the required levels, for example, at the farm level. This finding suggests that **the climate services field needs to consider whether it is scientifically feasible to provide climate information at finer spatial resolutions, and for which areas and sectors in a country this information is particularly necessary.**

Country governments are felt to prefer short-term action plans not only because of a focus on meeting immediate developmental needs, but also because for politicians, short-term electoral cycles push a need for "quick, demonstrable wins" to their electorate, meaning that long-term planning and action – such as that generally necessary for environmental sustainability and climate-compatible development – is unlikely. This finding has emerged in the literature before (e.g. Pasquini and Shearing, 2014). The literature (Pasquini and Shearing, 2014; Pasquini et al., 2015) has, however, also highlighted that political champions, when these support environmental/climate issues, have key roles to play in driving action on climate-related issues. Therefore, following recommendations made in Pasquini and Shearing (2014), the climate services field may consider focusing on targeting politicians and political parties, which may require the climate services field to engage with those organizations working closely with political actors. In South Africa, politicians take direction mainly from their party political structures (e.g. Lindell, 2008; Bawa, 2011), and if the situation is similar in other countries, targeting political parties with education, information, and awareness-raising interventions might prove a better strategy than focusing on particular politicians or political structures in specific locations. Further, because politicians are often replaced (through elections, through changes in party political lists), targeting dominant political parties and attempting to place climate issues on their political agenda might be one way to attempt to create a pool of political champions for environmental issues. These

recommendations echo the sentiments expressed in a few interviews, that political will is very important for climate action. In Kenya, one respondent commented that people listen to politicians and that, therefore, if politicians could be sensitised on climate-related issues, the impact of such sensitization would be large-scale. These findings highlight a more general point: that one entry point for climate services to engage desired target audiences on climate-related issues and information is to **establish**, for each desired target audience, whom that audience listens to (i.e. who wields influence in that audience) e.g. politicians, tribal authorities, religious leaders, etc. The climate services community can work through such leaders to disseminate messages, sensitize audiences, promote the uptake and use of climate information, and change relevant norms (similarly to point (4) under section 5.1.3).

As already mentioned in section 5.1.4, the interviews highlighted that men still dominate the policy decision influencer sphere, a trend that was ascribed to cultural factors influencing the choice of careers/professional fields for men and women. While it may not be in the remit of the climate services community to operate at cultural levels, the finding underscores, as mentioned already in section 5.1.4, the importance of working at the social norms level, given that men were found to hold greater self-enhancing values than women. It also suggests that the climate services field can make greater efforts to continue trying to encourage the entry of women into the policy decision influencer fields in which they currently do not have good representation.

Current use and desire of weather/ climate information

Analyses that informed this section

- Statistical correlation analysis between each of the risk perception determinants and the use and desire for climate services.
- Qualitative analysis of the semi-structured interviews and open-ended questions in the survey.

7.1 Weather/climate information used

In both the questionnaire sample and the interview sample, respondents reported using climate information in their job frequently (see also section 4, Table 1, and Figure A8). In order of frequency of use of different categories of climate information, respondents in the questionnaire sample reported using (see Figure A9):

(1) daily to weekly forecasts;

7

- (2) seasonal (three month) forecasts;
- (3) observed (historical) records;
- (4) projected impacts information;
- (5) 1 to 5 year climate projections;
- (6) projections of climate 5 years or longer into the future.

There are a number of reasons expected to be driving these results, which are addressed in the following sections.

7.1.1 Observed and short-term information use

When the risk perception determinants were statistically correlated to the types/time-scales of climate information used, one result that emerged is that the use of observed information and of seasonal forecast information is linked to increased observance of social norms.

While it would seem strange that the use of daily-weekly forecasts was not also linked to social norms, the likely reason is that a large proportion of the sample appeared to interpret the question on use of different types of climate information for their job very broadly. The qualitative analysis of the responses to the question 'why do you use this information, what for?' revealed that many respondents added using the weather forecast to plan clothing and travel choices to their list of answers of what they used climate information for (even though this is kind of use is strictly speaking not a part of a person's job). The interviews, which have the ability to be much more focused, also highlighted that people do not report using daily-weekly forecasts much for the conduct of their actual job, but rather reported using mostly observed information and seasonal forecasts. As such, it is likely that daily-weekly forecasts are not used as frequently for actual work purposes as the questionnaire results suggest. This being the case, the fact that observed information and forecast information should be linked to increased observance of social norms makes sense. Given that interviews revealed that both are frequently-used forms of climate information in people's work, it is logical

that as most people use observed and seasonal data, the people around them should also use these forms of information, as they observe and follow what those around them do. Where, then, does this use of observed and seasonal data come from in the first place?

The interview results suggest that in part, use of observed information and seasonal information, and norms around use of such information, are linked to 'the way things have always been done' in various climate-related sectors – e.g. the use of historical/observed data to design water supply and storage schemes – and to the countries' focus on immediate development needs and on demonstrable results, hence a focus on sectors like agriculture and on short-term timelines, which push a reliance on/desire for short-term, seasonal forecasts.

The questionnaire and interview results also suggest that the focus on observed and seasonal information is linked to the current landscape of climate services production and availability at a structural level. What does this landscape look like?

When respondents were asked in the survey which were their most trusted sources of climate information, their trust in their country's national meteorological services far outstripped their trust in other potential sources. These findings regarding the use of the national meteorological services as the main source of climate information are easily explained by the interviews, which highlighted that national meteorological services are the mandated body to provide climate information. This use of national meteorological services by respondents suggests that these agencies also contribute to 'setting' the intra-organizational norm that people should use observed and seasonal data, because within national meteorological services, the production and dissemination of climate data is skewed towards observed and short-term forecasting, up to the seasonal timescale. None of the east African national meteorological services provide climate projections longer than a seasonal forecast (see section 7.1.3.1 for further information on this).

To summarize, it is likely that the creation of the intra-organizational norm to use observed and seasonal forecast information is a result of a two-way interaction between producers and users of climate information. The focus on demonstrable results in the short-term and 'the way things have always been done' are likely to push climate information users to demand short-term and observed information, and the bias towards production of these forms of climate information in national meteorological services will reinforce their use.

Given that there is high use and desire for observed and seasonal climate information, an obvious implication for the climate services field is that the current focus on supply of these products can be continued, however, there are ways in which these services can be improved upon based on the emerging feedback on barriers to the use of observed and short-term information.

7.1.1.1 Barriers and enablers to observed and short-term information use

A few trends emerged from the interviews in terms of the barriers and enablers behind the current landscape of climate information production and availability. One is that while respondents use national meteorological services as their main source of climate services – as the mandated authority for the provision of such services – many reported using alternate information sources (mostly international bodies) for obtaining forecast information for verifying, validating or improving national meteorological services forecasts. In response to these shortcomings, it is worth continuing to strengthen the collaborations between individual country national meteorological services and other international bodies in order to build in-country capacity for ongoing research and development of forecasting products, development of user-oriented products and communication. In particular, enhanced partnerships between national meteorological services and research institutions (both local and international) can assist in broadening the capacity to deliver reliable climate services.

A couple of respondents from Ethiopia reported on one interesting enabler to climate information availability in the country: the integration of indigenous/traditional community knowledge (pastoral forecasting methods) with modern technology-driven forecasts is considered to be potentially very useful because traditional forecasting methods constitute a valuable source of information, and neither method alone is "complete". Previous research has shown that a combined scientific and indigenous forecast leads to greater trust and uptake of the forecast (Ziervogel and Opere, 2010). **Therefore, a combination of indigenous and scientific forecasts, for instance in the seasonal forecast, may hold potential for increasing the uptake of the seasonal forecasts amongst certain groups**.

Another set of barriers related to the requirement for users to have to pay for obtaining certain types of climate information from the national meteorological services (a way for this body to raise much-needed income). Such data was reported to be unaffordable, particularly the observed data records at finer resolutions, which is what users perceive to be most useful. One respondent noted that some observed data (the data at very high resolutions) cannot even be purchased from the national meteorological services. While this is a barrier that has been documented through many previous projects, it is a harder barrier to overcome without substantial economic reform of the way national meteorological services are funded and operate.

7.1.2 Impacts information use

A second result from correlating the risk perception determinants to the types/time-scales of climate information used is that the use of projected impacts information is positively correlated to personal experience of extreme weather events and to self-transcending values, and negatively correlated to self-enhancing values. The fact that as people's self-enhancing values grow, the less they use impacts information, could be explained by the fact that when climate change threatens people's worldviews and threatens to adversely impact their interests, people tend to downplay and discount it, as a form of denial or suppression (Wong-Parodi and Feygina, 2020). Therefore, it is possible that projected impacts information, which is likely more 'vivid' about the (negative) consequences of climatic variability and change, may be too 'threatening' for those holding strong selfenhancing values, although these explanations should be seen merely as hypotheses. The opposite finding, that people with self-transcending values and personal experience of extreme weather events make greater use of projected impacts information, makes sense considering that personal experiences of events can raise strong emotions, therefore making them more memorable and dominant in information processing. People's emotional reactions to risks often depend on the vividness with which negative consequences can be imagined (Loewenstein et al., 2001; Weber, 2006), and it seems logical that a preference for information that depicts the consequences of climatic variability and change would follow where people have personal experience of extreme weather events (which goes hand-in-hand with self-transcending values).

Given that the majority of respondents in the questionnaire sample reported self-transcending values and personally experiencing EWEs, what then explains the relatively low use of projected impacts information?

7.1.2.1 Barriers and enablers to use of projected impacts information

We expect the low frequency of use of projected impacts information to be due to its limited accessibility or detail, more than by desire to use it (see also section 6). An inspection of online climate services production and availability in east Africa reveals that many national meteorological services provide historical impacts information for the previous weeks, months and/or seasons. However, there is relatively low centralised production of projected impacts information, with the exception of broad projected impacts information included within monthly and seasonal forecast bulletins produced by some country's national meteorological services (e.g. the Kenya national meteorological seasonal bulletin, which provides high-level projected impacts for sectors such as agriculture, disaster risk, health, transport, water resources and energy).

More detailed projected impacts information appears to be primarily produced internally within sectors, ministries and organizations, based on forecasts obtained by national meteorological services. The production of this impacts information ranges all the way from relatively sophisticated (e.g. through coupling climate and crop models together) to fairly crude (e.g. making "rudimentary inferences" about health impacts based on experience of past events). One finding that emerged is that the knowledge of local, "on-the-ground" staff/observers is often drawn upon to generate impacts information, and so is experience of past events. In other words, experiential, localised knowledge is important in the production of impacts information. This finding is demonstrated nicely in the case of Kenya, where one respondent reported that although the national meteorological services is supposed to generate impacts information, they prefer to get sector-specific specialists (from within government agencies/departments) to co-generate impacts information based on the national meteorological services forecasts, through forum discussions. In these cases, there is scope for continued and/or enhanced collaboration between the NMS and sector-specific specialists in pulling together sources of projected impacts information into a central repository for easy access by those who need it.

Given the demand for forecasted impacts information (see section 7.2), in countries where there is little generation of projected impacts information, it is worth focussing on how to strengthen the centralised generation of projected impacts information. One way of going about this could be to convene groups of sector-specific stakeholders/experts together with national meteorological services staff (as is being done in Kenya) to produce more detailed forecasted impacts information that span priority sectors. The national meteorological services map rooms (available on many east African national meteorological services websites) have potential for hosting this more detailed impacts information, however, at the time of the review, many of the map rooms were not functioning.

Finally, the most frequently desired types of impacts information related to the impact of extreme weather events (droughts and floods) on the agricultural sector (crop yields), reflecting a concern with the sector of prime importance to East African countries' development, and with some of the extreme weather events respondents reported experiencing most frequently. But all this implies a need to sensitize stakeholders to the fact that there are more impacts of climate variability and change than those on crop yields, and on flood and drought risk – given that heat/high temperatures was reported as the second most frequent extreme weather event that policy decision influencers had experienced in their immediate spatial locations. The variety of impacts is something that policy decision influencers do have some understanding of, given that: a) across the sample, there was wide variation in impacts information desired; and b) the interviews showed that when respondents were asked more broadly about what impacts they had experienced from climate variability and change, many more impacts were reported in total than just flooding and drought. But this recognition of the myriad impacts of climate change is still insufficient.

7.1.3 Longer-term climate information use

A third result from correlating the risk perception determinants to the types/time-scales of climate information used is that the use of longer-term climate information is positively correlated to age and education, and negatively correlated to self-enhancing values. Use of projections longer than 5 years into the future increases with age. While it is not possible to offer any data-driven explanations for this finding, one hypothesis is that it could be due to a greater appreciation of the need to plan for the long-term the more an individual has spent in the policy decision influencer sphere and witnessed the disadvantages of short-term planning. Use of both 1-5 year projections and 5+ year projections increases with education, which may be due to the fact that climate change and long-term projections are relatively new additions to curricula and often still the preserve of specialized fields of study. The negative correlation between use of longer-term climate information and self-enhancing values could be due to efforts to suppress the need to consider climate change due to the threat it poses to people's values, as mentioned in section 7.1.2.

While the majority of respondents in the questionnaire sample had relatively high levels of educational attainment in general (as a reminder, 46% Bachelors degree, 35% Masters degree and 6% PhD), bachelor-level degrees outside of atmospheric science/climatology degrees have probably limited coverage of the use of longer-term projections, at least at the time respondents would have completed their degrees (40% of the sample fell in the 30-39 age category bracket, with only 23% younger than that). However, it might have been expected that there would have been greater use of longer-term climate projections in the sample given the relatively high general levels of education, and the fact that 37% of the sample was 40 or older. It is therefore expected that the low frequency of use of longer-term climate information is due to two major factors: the first, the general focus on short-term needs in sectors of prime importance for a country's immediate development priorities and concerns, which leads to a focus on the use of short-term and/or historical climate information in climate action, and little use of long-term climate change information (refer back to section 6). This theory is supported by the literature, in which a mismatch of timescales between longer-term information and the short-term priorities of decision-making is highlighted in many African contexts (Jones et al., 2015; Hansen et al., 2019; Carr et al., 2020).

7.1.3.1 Barriers and enablers to use of longer-term climate information

Many interview respondents felt that there was a strong expectation in their organization to work on climate variability and change, and this norm in a few cases was explicitly linked to increasing experience with extreme weather events. While experience with extreme weather events therefore seems valuable in shaping risk perceptions, norms and action on climate-related issues, this experience could potentially be a double-edged sword when considering the different foci on climate change vs. climate variability. The literature has shown that personal experience with extreme weather events can lead to greater concern on climate change, where individuals believe those extreme weather events are caused by climate change (see van der Linden, 2015). However, one interview respondent highlighted that the increase in frequency in extreme weather events leads to such a great need for emergency response (and an attendant focus on short-term/seasonal climate information), that long-term planning – required to deal with climate change, and not just climate variability – takes a backseat. This may explain (at least in part) why no correlation is seen between the use of longer-term climate change, and personal experience of extreme weather events, which might otherwise have been expected. Experience with extreme weather events may, paradoxically, therefore contribute to the low observed use of longer-term climate information. Therefore, if the climate services field highlights/works with extreme weather events, this may on the one hand be a way for the climate services field to better respond to the existing context of climate services used and desired; but on the other hand, it may reinforce action on only climate variability (even while it is likely to generally raises climate change risk perceptions at the same time).

If one wishes to maximise the uptake of long-term climate information specifically, one option is to better 'advertise' the link between planning for the long-term, and short-term immediate development needs. To do this, the inter-relationships between current choices and future consequences must be made clear, particularly for sectors that the country is most concerned with (see section 5.1.2 and section 6).

The second factor limiting the use of longer-term climate information (a limited use that was strongly confirmed by the interviews) is likely to be its limited accessibility and understandability. A review of climate services literature in Africa revealed several factors that may contribute to this situation: insufficient access to relevant and useful weather and climate information that is suited to the decision context (Jones et al., 2015; Singh et al., 2018; Hansen et al., 2019; Carr et al., 2020), insufficient technical capacity to understand and use the information (Singh et al., 2018; Nkiaka et al., 2019; Carr et al., 2020) and a lack of trust in the information (Nkiaka et al., 2019; Vogel et al., 2019). These sentiments were confirmed during the interviews.

The interviews also confirmed that the national meteorological services do not produce long-term climate information. The few respondents who reported using long-term projections named international climate centres/bodies and 'global datasets/models' as their sources. Lack of resources was reported as a barrier preventing the local production and availability of long-term climate information: funding, human capacity for long-term projections, necessary infrastructure (high-power computing), and sufficient quality and quantity of data on which to base projections. The existence of these international climate centres/bodies, and the existence of working relationships between some respondents' organizations (and/or the national meteorological services) and these bodies, were highlighted as crucial for the production/availability of longterm climate information. While the existence of long-term climate information from global datasets, models and centres is an obvious plus in the Eastern African region, some respondents did note drawbacks to these long-term projections: that they are too large-scale to be useful and/or require downscaling to be useful, and that they need to be evaluated for suitability (reliability, accuracy) to the local context. One respondent reported that there was a lack of trust in long-term climate information from external sources, because the sources of data used in such projections, and the manner in which such data is processed, cannot be verified. As such, if national meteorological services were better equipped to become conduits for longerterm information (such as GCMs and CORDEX downscaled information) produced through a variety of international and regional centres, this may assist in gaining the trust of users for using longer-term projections. This would alleviate the demand for national meteorological services to produce their own long-term projections but would provide credibility for the projections that are already being produced through other centres. However, caution should be applied in not endorsing some products over others in this process, otherwise the space for innovation and scientific advancement will become constrained to a few select "chosen" institutions. Where national meteorological services have the potential to add value to these externally produced projections is in the development of country-specific guidance for how to use and apply these longer-term projections in their specific country context. This should include the context-specific suitability, strengths and/or limitations of each product for application. This guidance should be co-produced through a user-producer dialogue, thereby drawing on sectoral and thematic expertise to maximise the utility of the guidance for application in decision-making.

7.2 Weather/climate information desired

The questionnaire survey asked respondents to indicate what kind of climate information they would like to receive for their job if they could have "any information they liked" (Figure A10). The results, however, closely matched the responses for what kind of climate information respondents currently use most frequently (Figure A9), suggesting that respondents may not have sufficiently understood the purpose of the question, or that they may not have considered different potential ways of using climate information in the conduct of their jobs (for example, due to habit or inertia).

However, when respondents were asked through an open-ended question in the survey about what kind of impacts information they might like to receive for their job, the vast majority of respondents desired receiving impacts-related information, and the majority desired more than one type of impacts information, with >40 types of impacts information mentioned in total. These findings confirm the expectation, mentioned above, that the low use of impacts information is unlikely to be related to desire for, or utility of, such information, but is more likely to be related to its low levels of production/availability. Unsurprisingly, the most frequently desired types of impacts information related to the agricultural sector (crop yields) and to extreme weather events (flood and drought risk), reflecting a concern with a sector of prime importance to East African countries' development, and with the extreme weather events respondents reported experiencing most frequently.

When the risk perception determinants were statistically correlated to the types/time-scales of climate information desired, the only finding of significance was that women had a greater desire for longer-term climate information (both 1-5 year projections, and >5 year projections). This finding may reflect the broader trend in risk perceptions research that suggests that risk perceptions tend to be higher amongst women than men (Poortinga et al., 2019), which may ultimately lead to greater sensitivity to long-term risks and therefore to desire for longer-term climate information, though these are, again, just hypotheses. While the climate services field may not be able to (or find appropriate) working to influence gender representation in the policy decision influencer sphere, **if better uptake of longer-term information is desired, the climate services community could explicitly choose to work more closely with the women who are already represented in the policy decision influencer community.**

7.3 Formats of climate information products desired

With regard to the formats that people would desire to receive climate information products in, the questionnaire survey did not reveal any clear favourites - "visual", "raw data" and "mixture of raw data and text" (in that order of priority) were all similarly highly ranked. "Text" was highly ranked much less often, and "verbal" was highly ranked the least of all (Figure A11). However, these results are not considered likely to hold much significance in the light of the interview findings. The interviews explored in greater detail people's preferences for maps, raw data, graphs, text and infographics by providing physical examples of each and discussing them with respondents. What the discussions made clear is that no one format emerges as clearly superior or preferred – much has to do with individuals' jobs, experience and needs. For example, graphs were considered to be of use to statisticians, economists and researchers/scientists, but of not much use for other audiences. As another example, while the questionnaire survey revealed a very low preference for "verbal" forms of communication among the policy decision influencers sampled, one respondent highlighted how this is an important format for farmers who are often illiterate. The interviews, thus, made clear also that much more detailed research on the topic is required to narrow down exactly which formats are most useful for which audiences. One strong finding that emerged from interviews, however, was people's interest in infographics. Many respondents felt that infographics are very useful for users because they are easy to understand, and a few highlighted that this mean they can be particularly useful for dissemination to non-technical end-users, with politicians, policy-makers and local communities provided as some example audiences. Importantly, some respondents underlined how little production of infographics occurs in-country. Therefore, the climate services community can work to strengthen the production and dissemination of infographics where non-technical end-users consist of the target audience(s).

Additional concluding recommendations

8

While it may appear obvious, it seems worthwhile to highlight that the findings discussed thus far suggest that there are aspects of centralized forms of governance that have positive implications for the use and uptake of climate services, as well as for climate action. Given policy decision influencers' reliance on using national meteorological services, as the mandated agencies of government for climate services production and dissemination, there is the possibility for consistent sources and content of climate information products, that can hence lead to more coherent, coordinated climate action. Respondents' reliance on national meteorological services means that potential agents of change in the climate services community can direct their communication and capacity-building efforts regarding climate information products upon these agencies, in addition to working on an audience-by-audience basis.

Given that the use of different types of climate information appears strongly linked to the current landscape of climate services produced and available, it follows that **placing effort on making more types of climate information available, and "advertising" their availability, may change the types of climate information that policy decision influencers start using** – particularly if one works with national meteorological services, given that as discussed, there is a broader norm that national meteorological services should be primarily used for sourcing climate information products. Therefore, if national meteorological services change the products they produce, this shift would likely lead to some change in the norms around what type of climate information is used in the workplace.

It is clear, from the TRANSFORM research, that climate change risk perceptions in east Africa are different from those so far documented in the global North. For instance, a fundamental difference is seen in the psychological closeness of climate change amongst this east African audience as well as the number of extreme events that respondents report experiencing, factors that contribute to high climate change risk perceptions among this audience. Therefore, it stands to reason that messaging about climate change should take into account differences in context, rather than designing products in a "catch-all" approach. For designing climate services products in the east African context, multiple suggestions have been made through this project. However, it is important to note that, while not explicitly researched under TRANSFORM, the principle of differentiation is likely to be relevant to transdisciplinary engagement processes as well. The way in which transdisciplinary engagements are designed needs to, for instance, take into account the unique cultural and value systems of the audience, look to understand and even leverage particular social norms, and specifically draw on knowledge about currently-experienced extreme events amongst the community being engaged. Sensitively designing audience-specific engagements is expected to assist in the development of the essential trust relationships that are required for successful transdisciplinary engagements, while also maximising the potential for uptake of any resultant climate services products.

References

Akerlof, K., Maibach, E.W., Fitzgerald, D., Cedeno, A. Y. & Neuman, A. (2013) Do people 'personally experience' global warming, and if so how, and does it matter? Global Environmental Change 23: 81-91. doi: 10.1016/J. GLOENVCHA.2012.07.006

Bawa, Z. (2011) Where is the state? How is the state? Accessing water and the state in Mumbai and Johannesburg. Journal of Asian and African Studies 46: 491-503. doi: 10.1177/0021909611403707

Carlton, S.J., & Jacobson, S.K. (2013) Climate change and coastal environmental risk perceptions in Florida. Journal of Environmental Management 130, 32-39. doi: 10.1016/J.JENVMAN.2013.08.038

Carr, E.R., Goble, R., Rosko, H.M., Vaughan, C. & Hansen, J. (2020) Identifying climate information services users and their needs in Sub-Saharan Africa: a review and learning agenda. Climate & Development 12: 23-41. doi: 10.1080/17565529.2019.1596061

Chaiken, S. & Trope, Y. (Eds.) (1999) Dual-process theories in social psychology. Guilford Press, New York.

Chang, H., Zhang, L. & Xie, G.-X. (2015) Message framing in green advertising: the effect of construal level and consumer environmental concern. International Journal of Advertising 34: 158-176. doi: 10.1080/02650487.2014.994731

Cialdini, R.B. (2003) Crafting normative messages to protect the environment. Current Directions in Psychological Science 12: 105-109. doi.org/10.1111/1467-8721.01242

CRED (Center for Research on Environmental Decisions) (2009) The psychology of climate change communication: a guide for scientists, journalists, educators, political aides, and the interested public. Center for Research on Environmental Decisions, New York. Available online at: http://guide.cred.columbia.edu/pdfs/CREDguide_full-res. pdf (accessed 15 March 2020).

Elijido-Ten, E.O. (2017) Does recognition of climate change related risks and opportunities determine sustainability performance? Journal of Cleaner Production, 141: 956-966. doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.09.136

Gerber, A.S. & Rogers, T. (2009) Descriptive social norms and motivation to vote: everybody's voting and so should you. The Journal of Politics 71: 178-191. doi.org/10.1017/S0022381608090117

Hansen, J., Furlow, J., Goddard, L., Nissan, H., Vaughan, C., Rose, A., et al. (2019) Scaling climate service to enable effective adaptation action. Global Commission on Adaptation, Rotterdam, the Netherlands & Washington, DC, United States. Available online at: https://cdn.gca.org/assets/2019-09/ScalingClimateServices.pdf (accessed 10 March 2020).

Hardisty, D.J. & Weber, E.U. (2009) Discounting future green: money versus the environment. Journal of Experimental Psychology General 138: 329-340. doi: 10.1037/a0016433

Jones, C., Hine, D.W. & Marks, A.D.G. (2017) The future is now: reducing psychological distance to increase public engagement with climate change. Risk Analysis 37: 331-341. doi: 10.1111/risa.12601

Jones, L., Dougill, A., Jones, R. G., Steynor, A., Watkiss, P., Kane, C., et al. (2015) Ensuring climate information guides long-term development. Nature Climate Change 5: 812-814. doi: 10.1038/nclimate2701

Leiserowitz, A. (2006) Climate change risk perception and policy preferences: the role of affect, imagery, and values. Climatic change 77: 45-72. doi.org/10.1007/s10584-006-9059-9

Liberman, N. & Trope, Y. (1998) The role of feasibility and desirability considerations in near and distant future decisions: a test of temporal construal theory. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology 75: 5-18. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.75.1.5.

Lindell, I. (2008) The multiple sites of urban governance: insights from an African city. Urban Studies 45: 1879-1901. doi.org/10.1177/0042098008093382

Loewenstein, G.F., Weber, E.U., Hsee, C.K. & Welch, E. (2001) Risk as feelings. Psychological Bulletin 127: 267-286. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.127.2.267

Lorenzoni, I. & Pidgeon, N.F. (2006) Public views on climate change: European and USA perspectives. in Climatic Change 77: 73-95. doi: 10.1007/s10584-006-9072-z

Lujala, P., Lein, H. & Rød, J. K. (2015) Climate change, natural hazards, and risk perception: the role of proximity and personal experience. Local Environment 20: 489-509. doi: 10.1080/13549839.2014.887666

Mabry, A. & Turner, M.M. (2016) Do sexual assault bystander interventions change men's intentions? Applying the theory of normative social behavior to predicting bystander outcomes. Journal of Health Communication 21: 276-292. doi.org/10.1080/10810730.2015.1058437

Marx, S. & Weber, E.U. (2012) Decision making under climate uncertainty: the power of understanding judgment and decision processes. In T. Dietz & D.C. Bidwell (Eds.), Climate change in the Great Lakes region: Navigating an uncertain future. Michigan State University Press, East Lansing, MI.

Marx, S.M., Weber, E.U., Orlove, B.S., Leiserowitz, A., Krantz, D.H., Roncoli, C. et al. (2007) Communication and mental processes: experiential and analytic processing of uncertain climate information. Global Environmental Change 17: 47-58. doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2006.10.004

Mcdonald, R.I., Chai, H.Y. & Newell, B.R. (2015) Personal experience and the 'psychological distance' of climate change: an integrative review. Journal of Environmental Psychology 44: 109-118. doi: 10.1016/j.jenvp.2015.10.003

Morton, T.A., Rabinovich, A., Marshall, D. & Bretschneider P. (2011) The future that may (or may not) come: How framing changes responses to uncertainty in climate change communications. Global Environmental Change 21: 103-109. doi. org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2010.09.013

Nolan, J.M., Schultz, P.W., Cialdini, R.B., Goldstein, N.J. & Griskevicius, V. (2008) Normative social influence is underdetected. Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin 34: 913-923. doi.org/10.1177/0146167208316691

Nissan, H., Goddard, L., de Perez, E.C., Furlow, J., Baethgen, W., Thomson, M.C., et al. (2019) On the use and misuse of climate change projections in international development. Wiley Interdisciplinary Review on Climate Change 10: e579. doi: 10.1002/wcc.579

Nkiaka, E., Taylor, A., Dougill, A.J., Antwi-Agyei, P., Fournier, N., Bosire, E.N., et al. (2019) Identifying user needs for weather and climate services to enhance resilience to climate shocks in sub-Saharan Africa. Environmental Research Letters 14: 123003. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/ab4dfe

O'Neill, S.J., Boykoff, M., Niemeyer, S. & Day, S.A. (2013) On the use of imagery for climate change engagement. Global Environmental Change 23: 413-421. doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2012.11.006

Pasquini, L. (2019) The urban governance of climate change adaptation in least-developed African countries and in small cities: the engagement of local decision-makers in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania, and Karonga, Malawi. Climate and Development. doi: 10.1080/17565529.2019.1632166.

Pasquini, L. & Shearing, C. (2014) Municipalities, politics, and climate change: an example of the process of institutionalizing an environmental agenda within local government. Journal of Environment & Development 23: 247-272. doi.org/10.1177/1070496514525406

Pasquini, L., Ziervogel, G., Cowling, R.M. & Shearing, C. (2015) What enables local governments to mainstream climate change adaptation? Lessons learned from two municipal case studies in the Western Cape, South Africa. Climate & Development 7: 60-70. doi.org/10.1080/17565529.2014.886994

Poortinga, W., Whitmarsh, L., Steg, L., Böhm, G. & Fisher, S. (2019) Climate change perceptions and their individual-level determinants: a cross-European analysis. Global Environmental Change 55: 25-35. doi: 10.1016/j. gloenvcha.2019.01.007

Schwartz, S.H. (1992) Universals in the content and structure of values: theoretical advances and empirical tests in 20 Countries. Advances in Experimental Social Psychology 25: 1-65. doi: 10.1016/S0065-2601(08)60281-6

Selormey, E., Dome, M.Z., Osse, L. & Logan, C. (2019). Change ahead: experience and awareness of climate change in Africa. Afrobarometer Policy Paper No. 60. Afrobarometer, Accra. Available online at: http://afrobarometer.org/sites/default/files/publications/Policy%20papers/ab_r7_policypaperno60_experience_and_awareness_of_climate_change_in_africa.pdf (accessed 20 March 2020).

Singh, C., Daron, J., Bazaz, A., Ziervogel, G., Spear, D., Krishnaswamy, J., et al. (2018) The utility of weather and climate information for adaptation decision-making: current uses and future prospects in Africa and India. Climate and Development 10: 389-405. doi: 10.1080/17565529.2017.1318744

Slovic, P., Peters, E., Finucane, M.L. & MacGregor, D.G. (2005) Affect, risk, and decision making. Health Psychology 24(4S): S35-S40. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.24.4.S35

Smith, N. & Leiserowitz, A. (2012) The rise of global warming skepticism: exploring affective image associations in the United States over time. Risk Analysis 32: 1021–1032. doi: 10.1111/j.1539-6924.2012.01801.x

Spence, A., Poortinga, W. & Pidgeon, N. (2012) The psychological distance of climate change. Risk Analysis 32: 957-972. doi: 10.1111/j.1539-6924.2011.01695.x

Steynor, A. & Pasquini, L. (2019) Informing climate services in Africa through climate change risk perceptions. Climate Services 15: 100112. doi: 10.1016/j.cliser.2019.100112

Sundblad, E.-L., Biel, A. & Gärling, T. (2007) Cognitive and affective risk judgements related to climate change. Journal of Environmental Psychology 27: 97-106. doi: 10.1016/J.JENVP.2007.01.003

Tankard, M. & Paluck, E.L. (2016) Norm perception as a vehicle for social change. Social Issues and Policy Review 10: 181-211. doi.org/10.1111/sipr.12022

Thaler, R. (1981) Some empirical evidence on dynamic inconsistency. Economics Letters 8: 201-207. doi. org/10.1016/0165-1765(81)90067-7

Trope, Y. & Liberman, N. (2003) Temporal construal. Psychological Review 110: 403-421. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.110.3.403

van der Linden, S. (2015) The social-psychological determinants of climate change risk perceptions: Towards a comprehensive model. Journal of Environmental Psychology 41: 112-124. doi: 10.1016/J.JENVP.2014.11.012

Vogel, C., Steynor, A. & Manyuchi, A. (2019) Climate services in Africa: re-imagining an inclusive, robust and sustainable service. Climate Services 15: 100107. doi: 10.1016/j.cliser.2019.100107

Weber, E.U. (2006) Experience-based and description-based perceptions of long-term risk: why global warming does not scare us (yet). Climatic Change 77: 103-120. doi.org/10.1007/s10584-006-9060-3

Wong-Parodi, G. & Feygina, I. (2020) Understanding and countering the motivated roots of climate change denial. Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability 42: 60-64. doi: 10.1016/j.cosust.2019.11.008

Yamin, P., Fei, M., Lahlou, S. & Levy, S. (2019) Using social norms to change behavior and increase sustainability in the real world: a systematic review of the literature. Sustainability: 11: 5847. doi: 10.3390/su11205847

Yan, D., Sengupta, J. & Hong, J. (2016) Why does psychological distance influence construal level? The role of processing mode. Journal of Consumer Research 43: 598-613. doi: 10.1093/jcr/ucw045

Ziervogel, G. & Opere, A. (editors) (2010) Integrating meteorological and indigenous knowledge-based seasonal climate forecasts in the agricultural sector. International Development Research Centre, Ottawa. Climate Change Adaptation in Africa learning paper series. Available online at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/331669435_ Climate_Change_Adaptation_in_Africa_program_01 (accessed 22 April 2020).

Annex: Survey results

m







Climate change risk perceptions

FIGURE A2: Risk perceptions

Q1: I think that climate change is really happening Q2: My local area (town/city) is likely to be affected by climate change Q3: When do you think your local area (town/city) will start feeling the effects of climate change? Q4: I think that climate change will have a big impact on me and my family Q5: I think that climate change will have a big impact on my local area (town/city) Q6: The effects of climate change in my local area (town/city) are certain, if nothing is done to prevent them 0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100 % of respondents Strongly Agree – 5 Agree – 4 Neither Agree nor Disagree – 3 Q3 = already feeling the impacts Q3 = in the next 10 yearsQ3 = in the next 25 yearsDisagree – 2 Strongly Disagree – 1 Q3 = in longer then 25 years Q3 = never

Psychological Distance







Social Norms



FIGURE A5: Social Norms



FIGURE A6: Values





FIGURE A7: Socio-demographics: Age, Gender, Education



FIGURE A8: Use of weather/climate information



Types of weather and/or climate and/or impact information currently used in their job





Top type of weather/climate information desired for their job

FIGURE A10: Desired type of information









Top most trusted source for receiving weather and climate information

FIGURE A12: Trusted sources of information

THE CLIMATE SYSTEM ANALYSIS GROUP (CSAG):

Physical:	Environmental and Geographical Science building South Lane Upper Campus University of Cape Town
Postal:	Private Bag X3 Rondebosch Cape Town 7701
Telephone:	+27 (0) 21 650 2784

http://www.csag.uct.ac.za/wiser-transform/

About WISER TRANSFORM

The Weather and Climate Services for Africa (WISER) programme's mission is to deliver transformational change in the quality, accessibility and use of weather and climate information services at all levels of decision making for sustainable development in Africa. WISER is a programme of the UK Department for International Development (DFID) which is split into two components: one Pan-African, managed by the African Climate Policy Center (ACPC); and the other focused on East Africa, managed by the Met Office, based in the UK. Under the East Africa component, the TRANSFORM project was tasked with better understanding how to improve the supply of climate information in a manner that is relevant and responsive to the context and needs of climate services users (and therefore increase the likelihood of uptake and use of climate information) through an environmental psychology approach.

The TRANSFORM project is a consortium led by SouthSouthNorth with the Climate System Analysis Group (CSAG) at the University of Cape Town, global consulting services company, ICF, the Overseas Development Institute (ODI) and the International Research Institute for Climate and Society (IRI) at Columbia University.



Fund Manager for WISER:



Met Office



